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Advance Praise for David Ray Griffin’s
The New Pearl Harbor Revisited


“President Bush and Vice President Cheney have many questions to answer in light of this book. This time they should have to testify separately and under oath. Unlike their testimony at the 9/11 Commission, behind closed doors, this should be open testimony.”

—Jesse Ventura, Governor of Minnesota, 1999–2003

“Citizens in many countries are waging a war on the cover-up of the basis for the so-called war on terror—this basis being the official interpretation of the 9/11 attacks. Along with the Internet, which has equipped both public figures and ordinary citizens to wage this war on the cover-up, David Ray Griffin has revealed dozens of omissions, distortions, and contradictions in the official story in a way that provides undeniable evidence of its falsity. The New Pearl Harbor Revisited presents a powerful exposé of the false narrative that has been driving the mainstream political agenda since 9/11. It is now up to politicians and journalists around the world to expose this truth to our peoples.”

—Yukihisa Fujita, member of the House of Councilors, the Diet of Japan

“Circuses use people to clean up their elephants—a dirty job, but someone has to do it. The 9/11 Commissioners evidently likened themselves to circus workers, cleaning up after the (Republican) elephant. They did a very sloppy job, making it easy to see that 9/11 was an inside job. The contrary view—that the 9/11 attacks were perpetrated by Arab Muslims—has been the source of innumerable evils, which threaten to destroy our country and the world itself. David Griffin’s New Pearl Harbor Revisited contains everything needed by Congress and the press to see through the most massive crime and cover-up in our history.”

—Edward Asner, actor and citizen

“With this work, Dr. Griffin cements his place as the preeminent spokesperson for the growing number of people who demand answers to an expanding list of questions about 9/11. . . . Even those members of the 9/11 Truth Movement who have immersed themselves thoroughly in the subject will find new information here, presented in the precise and very readable style Dr. Griffin has brought to each of his books. . . . Absent a revival of investigative journalism—a dim prospect at best, in view of the media ownership concentration—books like this one, arming the informed citizen with solid information and providing a basis for demanding direct action, appear to be our best hope.”

—Shelton F. Lankford, Lt. Col. US Marine Corps (Ret.)

“You and I, along with all citizens of the world, are victims of a heinous crime. The conspiracy that generated the Twin Tower photo-op, blamed the 9/11 attacks on Arab Muslims, and misdirected truth-seekers by destruction of evidence and willful misrepresentation is masterfully exposed in this book. Who had the motive, means and opportunity to demolish three skyscrapers, including Building 7, which was not even attacked by a mere airplane? Who could penetrate the Earth’s most heavily defended air space and fortress—the Pentagon? What was their motive? Greed to concentrate power, to control access to the last drop of Gaia’s reserve hydrocarbon energy? But, alas, who thinks of our children? David Ray Griffin, apolitical scholar and theologian, was transformed by the coup d’etat into a superb scientist-journalist. By documenting the tragic 9/11 crime, this consummate educator has done us victims a profound service.”

—Lynn Margulis, Distinguished University Professor, Department of Geosciences, University of Massachusetts-Amherst, and National Medal of Science recipient

“Mr. Griffin has again painstakingly laid bare the many lingering questions and inconsistencies of the official story regarding the horrific attacks of September 11, 2001. Sadly, millions of taxpayer dollars have been squandered on investigations that yielded no accountability, few answers, and fewer reforms. Yet, the attacks of September 11, 2001 have been wantonly used as political and policy fodder. Without truth, there can be no accountability. Without accountability, there can be no real change. Without change, we remain at risk.”

—Monica Gabrielle, widow of Richard Gabrielle, who was killed at WTC2 on 9/11/01, member of the Family Steering Committee for the 9/11 Commission





[image: , ]





First published in 2008 by

OLIVE BRANCH PRESS

An imprint of Interlink Publishing Group, Inc.

46 Crosby Street, Northampton, Massachusetts 01060

www.interlinkbooks.com

Copyright © David Ray Griffin, 2008

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission in writing of the publisher.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Griffin, David Ray, 1939–

The new Pearl Harbor revisited : 9/11, the cover-up, and the exposé / by David Ray Griffin.

p. cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 978-1-56656-729-9 (pbk.)

1. September 11 Terrorist Attacks, 2001. 2. National Commission on Terrorist Attacks upon the United States. 9/11 Commission report. 3. Governmental investigations—

United States—Evaluation. I. Title.

HV6432.7.G77 2008

973.931—dc22

2008030354

Printed and bound in the United States of America

Cover image: The World Trade Center stands out against a blackened New York City skyline after a power failure struck the city July 14, 1977. © AP Photos

To request our complete 40-page full-color catalog, please call us toll free at

1-800-238-LINK, visit our website at www.interlinkbooks.com, or write to
Interlink Publishing

46 Crosby Street, Northampton, MA 01060

e-mail: info@interlinkbooks.com






ACKNOWLEDGMENTS


In acknowledging the tremendous amount of help and support I received in writing this book, I wish to begin by mentioning the indispensable source for 9/11-related stories published in the mainstream press: The Complete 9/11 Timeline at History Commons (formerly known as Cooperative Research). Started in 2002 by Paul Thompson, it has surely become, through the continuing work of Thompson and his colleagues, the greatest feat of annotated, investigative journal indexing ever achieved on a volunteer basis. Having served as the source of about half of my references in The New Pearl Harbor, this timeline has been equally indispensable for The New Pearl Harbor Revisited.

Whereas most of the people on whose work I drew for this book are named in the notes, I received additional assistance from Dylan Avery, Rob Balsamo, Elias Davidsson, Kee Dewdney, Eric Douglas, Mark Gaffney, Allan Giles, Ed Haas, Barbara Honegger, Jim Hoffman, Robin Hordon, Jay Kolar, Stephen Jones, Alan Miller, Rowland Morgan, Ted Muga, Ralph Omholt, Kevin Ryan, and Russ Wittenberg.

I owe special gratitude to three individuals who provided extraordinary assistance in the actual writing of the book: Matthew Everett, Tod Fletcher, and Elizabeth Woodworth. Besides being three of the best proofreaders in the world, they helped in many other ways. Matthew, who through his work on The Complete 9/11 Timeline has become a gold mine of information, brought to my attention many of the sources I employed. Tod, who seems to know a lot about everything, provided valuable help with every chapter. Elizabeth, who has served as my virtual assistant, employed her gifts as acute critic and research librarian extraordinaire throughout the process, helping in countless ways, including creating the index.

I also wish to express my continuing gratitude to my editor, Pam Thompson, and publisher, Michel Moushabeck, who took the risk to publish The New Pearl Harbor when the 9/11 truth movement had little intellectual or professional support.

As always, my main source of daily support is my wife, Ann Jaqua.






PREFACE


My first book about 9/11, The New Pearl Harbor: Disturbing Questions about the Bush Administration and 9/11 (henceforth NPH), was published early in 2004, with a second, updated edition appearing a few months later. The present volume was prompted by two facts about the discussion of 9/11 in the intervening years. On the one hand, although 9/11 was indisputably the most fateful event of our time, from which enormous consequences—almost entirely negative—have flowed, neither Congress nor the mainstream media have investigated the reasons provided by independent researchers from many professions for considering the official account false. On the other hand, five major developments have occurred that have changed the discussion since the appearance of NPH.

One major development was the publication of The 9/11 Commission Report in July 2004. Prior to its publication, a portion of the community of researchers seeking the truth about 9/11 still hoped that the 9/11 Commission would prove to be a truth-seeking body. Some of these optimistic researchers, hoping to assist the Commission, even sent it copies of The New Pearl Harbor, which was widely regarded as the best summary of the main discoveries made by this community of independent researchers, generally called “the 9/11 truth movement.” But when the Commission’s report appeared, it confirmed the expectations of the movement’s most pessimistic members. Rather than confronting the evidence summarized in NPH and elsewhere that suggested official complicity, the Commission simply presupposed the truth of the government’s theory, according to which the 9/11 attacks resulted from a conspiracy involving only Osama bin Laden and other Arab Muslims. All the contrary information provided in NPH and elsewhere was either distorted or simply omitted in the Commission’s final report. One of the most remarkable omissions was its failure even to mention that Building 7 of the World Trade Center had collapsed—perhaps because FEMA, which had put out a preliminary report on the World Trade Center in 2002, admitted that its best explanation for this collapse had “only a low probability of occurrence.”

A second major development was the publication in 2005 of the official report on the destruction of the Twin Towers by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). Although this report has been accepted by the mainstream press as an authoritative explanation, many scientists have argued that NIST could appear to explain the collapses of these buildings only by ignoring several types of evidence and even violating various laws of physics. Further criticisms of NIST’s report have been evoked by the fact that, although it was supposed to deal not only with the Twin Towers but also with WTC 7, NIST has repeatedly delayed its explanation for this third building’s collapse.

A third major development was the publication in 2006 of two polls indicating that a significant percentage of the American people rejected, or at least doubted, the official account of 9/11. A Zogby poll indicated that 42 percent of the population believed “the US government and its 9/11 Commission concealed. . . critical evidence that contradicts their official explanation of the September 11th attacks.” Even more significant was a Scripps Howard/Ohio University poll, which found 36 percent of the public believing that “federal officials either participated in the attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon or took no action to stop them ‘because they wanted the United States to go to war in the Middle East.’” This latter poll led Time magazine to comment: “Thirty-six percent adds up to a lot of people. This is not a fringe phenomenon. It is a mainstream political reality.”

These polls suggested that the 9/11 truth movement, in spite of the hostility of the mainstream press, had been increasingly successful. That success—which, to anyone paying attention, had been apparent long before those polls publicized the fact—perhaps lay behind a new approach to the 9/11 truth movement adopted by defenders of the official account. Prior to the summer of 2006, the official reports had dealt with the movement by ignoring it; the reports by NIST and the 9/11 Commission did not even acknowledge the existence of an alternative account of 9/11, according to which it was an inside job—whether fully or at least in part. But in August 2006, four official and semi-official publications appeared that explicitly sought to debunk this alternative account. One of the semi-official publications was a book by Popular Mechanics entitled Debunking 9/11 Myths. This new strategy constituted a fourth major development.

A fifth major development was a large influx of intellectuals and professionals into the 9/11 truth community. This community now includes various organizations of intellectuals—such as Scholars for 9/11 Truth, Scholars for 9/11 Truth and Justice, and S.P.I.N.E.: The Scientific Panel Investigating Nine-Eleven. Partly to emphasize this development, Peter Dale Scott and I edited a 2006 book entitled 9/11 and American Empire: Intellectuals Speak Out. The movement also now includes a growing number of professionals, many of whom belong to some specialized organization, such as Veterans for 9/11 Truth, Pilots for 9/11 Truth, and Architects and Engineers for 9/11 Truth. This influx of intellectuals and professionals also led to the creation of a scholarly journal, The Journal of 9/11 Studies. Statements by hundreds of intellectuals and professionals who believe that a new investigation is needed can now conveniently be read online at Patriots Question 9/11.

Thanks to the growing number of intellectuals and professionals—including physicists, chemists, architects, engineers, pilots, military officers, intelligence officers, and political leaders—who have publicly rejected the official story, the case against that story is now much stronger than in 2004 (as I showed in a 2007 book, Debunking 9/11 Debunking, in which I responded to the four documents of August 2006 that tried to refute the claims of the 9/11 truth movement).

This strengthening of the 9/11 truth movement’s composition and its case against the official story may help explain the fact that a Scripps Howard/Ohio University poll taken in late 2007 showed a dramatic decrease in the number of Americans who are confident about the truth of the official account: Only 30 percent of the respondents considered “not likely” the idea that federal officials had received specific warnings about the 9/11 attacks but decided to ignore them. This finding suggests that a clear majority of the American people would be ready for a true investigation into 9/11.

Even after all of these developments, however, both Congress and the mainstream press have continued to refuse to investigate the dozens of reasons the 9/11 truth community has provided for considering the official account false.

These reasons include the fact that the 9/11 Commission’s report contains dozens of falsehoods, whether explicit or merely implicit (as I showed in my 2005 critique, The 9/11 Commission Report: Omissions and Distortions). These reasons also include the existence of massive contradictions between the official theory and some basic laws of physics (as I documented in Debunking 9/11 Debunking, citing the analyses of Steven Jones, Kevin Ryan, and other scientists). These reasons include, moreover, many internal contradictions within the official story (as I demonstrated in my first 2008 book, 9/11 Contradictions: An Open Letter to Congress and the Press). Nevertheless, while acknowledging that the Bush administration’s response to 9/11, based on its public account of it, has been overwhelmingly destructive for both America and the rest of the world, both our elected representatives and our “fourth estate” have thus far ignored the massive amount of evidence pointing to the falsity of that account.

The idea of writing The New Pearl Harbor Revisited arose because of a two-fold fact about NPH. On the one hand, besides containing some errors, it had become increasingly out of date. On the other hand, it continued to be, in spite of these flaws, widely regarded as the best and most readable introduction to the issues. During the past few years, therefore, many people had urged me to write an updated edition.

Although they knew that I had responded to some of the new developments in the aforementioned books, they pointed out that it would be important to have all of the information most essential for evaluating the official story in an easily accessible form. Besides being helpful for ordinary citizens who have come to suspect the falsity of the official story, this would be vital if Congress and the press were finally to decide to investigate the problems in that story. Busy senators, representatives, and journalists could not be expected to search through several books to find the relevant information about a given issue. The question was how to update NPH without losing two of its oft-remarked virtues, its brevity and readability.

The publisher and I arrived at the following solution: NPH is reprinted as the first volume of a two-volume set. The second volume, The New Pearl Harbor Revisited (NPHR), is a chapter-by-chapter commentary on the first volume, in which its discussion is brought up to date and, where necessary, corrected. The updating consists partly of information contained here and there in my intervening books, and partly of information I had not previously discussed. In some cases, this new information involves developments that occurred shortly before the book went to press.

The fact that NPH and NPHR have been published as companion volumes in a two-book set does not mean that they must be purchased together; readers who already have NPH may simply purchase NPHR by itself. What it does mean is that neither book is intended to be used as a stand-alone volume. NPH is no longer self-sufficient for the reasons already mentioned: Besides containing some errors, it is several years out of date, having appeared prior to the publication of The 9/11 Commission Report, NIST’s report on the Twin Towers, and many other developments. Likewise, NPHR is not intended to be read by itself: As a commentary on NPH, it presupposes that its readers have already studied that earlier volume. Indeed, it consists of chapters paralleling those in NPH, so that readers can turn immediately from a chapter in that book to the updating of its information in the present book.

The full title of the present book is The New Pearl Harbor Revisited: 9/11, the Cover-Up, and the Exposé. NPH dealt with the official account of 9/11, on the one hand, and the 9/11 truth community’s exposé of that account as a cover-up of what really happened, on the other hand, as they both existed in early 2004. The present volume deals with the official account in the form in which it has existed since the appearance of The 9/11 Commission Report (July 2004), which offered a radically new explanation of why the hijacked airliners were not intercepted, and the appearance of NIST’s report on the Twin Towers (2005), which provided a new and supposedly definitive account of why they came down. Besides explaining these revisions of the official story, this book also summarizes the 9/11 truth movement’s ongoing exposé of these revisions as further attempts to cover up the truth about what really occurred on 9/11—an exposé that, thanks to the influx of large numbers of intellectuals and professionals into the movement, is now so compelling as to be virtually undeniable by anyone who will take the time to study it.






INTRODUCTION


As I pointed out in the preface, much has changed since The New Pearl Harbor (NPH) was published. Those changes led me over the years to express growing certainty about the falsity of the official account of 9/11. In NPH, I described the evidence for official complicity as merely prima facie, but I dropped this qualification after writing The 9/11 Commission Report: Omissions and Distortions (henceforth 9/11CROD),1 saying in that book’s final paragraph:


[F]ar from lessening my suspicions about official complicity, [the 9/11 Commission’s report] has served to confirm them. Why would the minds in charge of this final report engage in such deception if they were not trying to cover up very high crimes?2



The deception to which I referred was considerable. In a brief essay summarizing 9/11CROD, I listed 115 lies of omission and distortion in the Commission’s report that my book had identified.3

In my next book, Christian Faith and the Truth behind 9/11, I explained the significance of the 9/11 Commission’s report in the following way:


In a criminal trial, once the prosecution has presented its initial case, the defense asks the judge for a dismissal on the grounds that a prima facie case for guilt has not been presented. However, if the judge declares that such a case has been made, then the defense must rebut the various elements in the prosecution’s case. . . . If the defense fails to offer a convincing rebuttal, the prima facie case is presumed to be conclusive. . . . The 9/11 Commission, under the direction of Bush administration insider Philip Zelikow, had the opportunity to rebut the [9/11 truth movement’s] prima facie case against the Bush administration. But as [its] . . . omissions and distortions show, it completely failed to do so. As a result, the prima facie case that the Bush administration orchestrated the attacks of 9/11 remained unrefuted. The publication of The 9/11 Commission Report should, accordingly, be recognized as a decisive event: the moment at which the prima facie case against the Bush administration became a conclusive case.4



The experience of writing my next book, Debunking 9/11 Debunking (henceforth D9D)5—in which I responded to four defenses of the official story, published in August 2006, that explicitly sought to debunk the claims of the 9/11 truth movement—led me to speak even more strongly, saying in that book’s first sentence: “The evidence that 9/11 was an inside job is overwhelming.”6

My first 2008 book, 9/11 Contradictions: An Open Letter to Congress and the Press,7 showed the case against the official story to be even stronger. That is because any theory, to be credible, must exemplify two main characteristics: self-consistency and adequacy to the relevant facts. NPH and most of my other books have, like the 9/11 truth movement in general, focused primarily on the many ways in which the official theory fails to be adequate to the empirical facts (about steel-frame high-rise buildings, standard operating procedures for flight interception, photographs of the Pentagon damage and the Flight 93 crash site, and so on). In 9/11 Contradictions, however, I emphasized the fact that the official story is also riddled with internal contradictions—I described 25 of them.

In the present volume, which is organized as a chapter-by-chapter commentary on those issues discussed in NPH about which there is something new to say, I mention some of these contradictions as well as several recent developments in the discussion of the official theory’s inadequacy to the empirical evidence. I now begin the commentary on the introduction of NPH.

The use of 9/11 to promote the “war on terror” and various other policies enacted by the Bush administration, discussed in the introduction to NPH, has continued. It is widely acknowledged that 9/11 has been constantly invoked to justify dubious, even illegal, policies. It is also widely acknowledged that the Bush administration has repeatedly lied to the American people and that these lies include the basis for the war in Iraq, which has cost hundreds of billions of dollars and thousands of American lives, as well as—occasionally acknowledged—probably over a million Iraqi lives.8 It is even acknowledged that the Bush administration lied about the safety of the air at the World Trade Center site after the attacks,9 and this lie, which has already led to debilitating illness in thousands of rescue and clean-up workers, may result in more premature deaths than occurred on 9/11 itself.10 Nevertheless, the possibility that the official story about 9/11 might itself be a lie is a topic that, as this book went to press, still had not been explored in Congress or the mainstream press.

THE FAILURE OF THE PRESS


One newspaper writer asked on the second anniversary of 9/11: “[W]hy after 730 days do we know so little about what really happened that day?”11 Now at the seventh anniversary, someone could equally well ask: Why after 2,557 days do we still know so little? A large part of the answer would be that the failure of the mainstream press to do its job has continued. Indeed, far from investigating the evidence provided by the 9/11 truth community, the press has attacked and ridiculed this community, thereby defending the official account. I have briefly discussed the press’s irresponsible behavior in the introduction and conclusion of D9D. A much more extensive discussion can be found in a 2006 book, Towers of Deception: The Media Cover-Up of 9/11, by Canadian journalist Barrie Zwicker.12 Also, in the Summer 2007 issue of Global Outlook (“The Magazine of 9/11 Truth”), Zwicker reprinted and critiqued 45 mainstream news articles and TV shows that appeared in 2006 and 2007, showing that, with only a few exceptions, they were aimed at creating a negative impression of the 9/11 truth movement, not at engaging in objective journalism about a controversial subject.13

As I pointed out briefly in NPH and then more fully in a lecture entitled “9/11: The Myth and the Reality,”14 one way the Bush administration prevented public questioning of the official account of 9/11 was by presenting it as a sacred story, so that any questioning of it would be regarded as not only unpatriotic but also sacrilegious. For example, on the only mainstream television show in the United States on which I have appeared, the host, Tucker Carlson, said: “[F]or you to suggest. . . that the US government killed 3,000 of its own citizens” is “wrong, blasphemous, and sinful.”15 One correspondent wrote to me that Carlson, in accusing me of blasphemy, seemed to confuse Bush, Cheney, and Rice with the Holy Trinity.

I developed this theme further in another lecture, “9/11 and Nationalist Faith,”16 in which I argued that, although America is generally regarded as a basically Christian nation, another form of faith is more pervasive and, even for many Christians, more fundamental. This is faith in the essential goodness of America and its leaders. This faith implies that, although our leaders may be incompetent and may even lie upon occasion, they would never deliberately do something horrendously evil, especially to their own citizens. Given this faith, which is usually known as the belief in “American exceptionalism,” the idea that the Bush administration could have orchestrated, or even consciously allowed, the 9/11 attacks can be ruled out a priori, so that no examination of relevant evidence is necessary. Insofar as the mainstream press serves to maintain this nationalist faith in the public sphere, no public examination of relevant evidence is even permitted. When the 9/11 truth community is not simply ignored, it is defamed.

9/11 AND THE LEFT


It is not, however, merely the mainstream press that has supported the official account by treating the 9/11 truth movement with disdain. This practice has been at least equally prevalent in the left-leaning press. For example, Alexander Cockburn—writing in The Nation, as well as in his own publication, Counterpunch—referred to members of the movement as “the 9/11 conspiracy nuts.”17 These nuts, Cockburn assured his readers, have no knowledge of military matters, no conception of evidence, and no grasp of the real world.18

In making such charges, Cockburn revealed that he knew nothing about the actual membership of the movement—that it contains people such as Colonel Robert Bowman, who flew over 100 combat missions in Vietnam and earned a Ph.D. in aeronautics and nuclear engineering before becoming head of the “Star Wars” program during the Ford and Carter administrations;19 Andreas von Bülow, formerly state secretary in the German Federal Ministry of Defense, minister of research and technology, and member of the German parliament, where he served on the intelligence committee;20 General Leonid Ivashov, formerly chief of staff of the Russian armed forces;21 former CIA analyst Ray McGovern, who was the chairman of the National Intelligence Estimates and provided the president’s daily brief for Ronald Reagan and George H.W. Bush;22 Colonel George Nelson, formerly an airplane accident investigator for the US Air Force;23 Colonel Ronald D. Ray, a highly decorated Vietnam veteran who became deputy assistant secretary of defense during the Reagan administration;24 Robert David Steele, who had a 25-year career in intelligence, serving both as a CIA clandestine services case officer and as a US Marine Corps intelligence officer;25 Captain Russ Wittenberg, a former Air Force fighter pilot with over 100 combat missions, after which he was a commercial airlines pilot for 35 years;26 and many other people with knowledge of the “real world” in general and military matters in particular.

Another charge leveled by Cockburn against members of the 9/11 truth movement was that “their treatment of eyewitness testimony. . . is whimsical. . . . [T]estimony that undermines their theories. . . is contemptuously brushed aside.”27 However, besides revealing his unawareness of the fact that the movement contains many scientists and other intellectuals who deal regularly with evidence, Cockburn also, by his own ignorance, contradicted first-hand testimony. At the time Cockburn wrote his statement, I had published a widely circulated essay entitled “Explosive Testimony,”28 which showed that dozens of members of the Fire Department of New York, along with journalists and World Trade Center employees, testified that explosions had been going off in the Twin Towers during and prior to their collapses. Cockburn, however, wrote: “People inside who survived the collapse didn’t hear a series of explosions.”29

Cockburn also said that the 9/11 truth movement represented “the ascendancy of magic over common sense [and] reason.”30 But then, after acknowledging that the Twin Towers fell rapidly, he claimed that the collapses did not require preplaced explosives, because, he said: “High grade steel can bend disastrously under extreme heat.”31 Cockburn, in other words, suggested that the fires, by bending the steel on a few floors, caused these 110-story buildings to collapse symmetrically, at virtually free-fall speed, into piles of rubble only a few stories high. If that is not magical thinking, what would be? The hundreds of professionals who have joined Architects and Engineers for 9/11 Truth certainly do not believe that Cockburn’s scenario is even remotely possible.32 But thus far Cockburn has evidently remained unaware of, or indifferent to, the fact that his view runs counter to the growing weight of professional opinion.

Not only Cockburn’s Counterpunch but also most of the other major left-leaning publications, such as The Nation, The Progressive, and In These Times,33 have remained impervious to the fact that, as more and more people with professional expertise examine the evidence, they reject the official story. A case in point is former senior CIA official Bill Christison, who wrote in the summer of 2006: “I spent the first four and a half years since September 11 utterly unwilling to consider seriously the conspiracy theories surrounding the attacks of that day. . . . [I]n the last half year and after considerable agony, I’ve changed my mind.”34 On the basis of that change of mind, Christison wrote an essay entitled “Stop Belittling the Theories about September 11,” in which he said: “I now think there is persuasive evidence that the events of September did not unfold as the Bush administration and the 9/11 Commission would have us believe.”35

Robert Baer is another former CIA official who changed his mind. Late in 2004, he wrote a review of NPH for The Nation, in which he faulted me for “recycl[ing] some of the wilder conspiracy theories.” The attacks, Baer assured his readers, were best explained in terms of “a confluence of incompetence, spurious assumptions and self-delusion on a grand scale.”36 By 2006, however, a closer examination of the evidence had led him to question his former position. Asked by interviewer Thom Hartmann whether “there was an aspect of ‘inside job’ to 9/11 within the US government,” Baer replied: “There is that possibility, the evidence points at it.”37

These changes of mind by Christison and Baer have, however, apparently not led The Nation or any of the other left-leaning magazines to reconsider their stances on 9/11. It was, in fact, months after Baer’s public statement that The Nation published Cockburn’s “9/11 Conspiracy Nuts.” These magazines have also thus far seemed unfazed by the large number of scientists, pilots, architects, engineers, and military and intelligence officers who have publicly rejected the official conspiracy theory in favor of the view that 9/11 was, at least in part, an inside job. While recognizing that the Bush administration has lied about almost everything else, they continue to accept on faith the fantastic tale about 9/11 told by this administration—while, without irony, referring to the growing rejection of that tale as “The 9/11 Faith Movement.”38

I keep hoping, however, that the press will finally get empirical about this issue, rather than continuing to dismiss the alternative theory on a priori grounds—a plea that I made in a lecture called “9/11: Let’s Get Empirical.”39 As Christison and hundreds of other professionals have illustrated, once people actually examine the evidence, the fact that 9/11 was an inside job becomes pretty obvious.

“INCIDENTS” AND FALSE-FLAG ATTACKS


In writing the introduction to NPH, I mentioned that while studying the history of American imperialism, I had learned that “the US government had fabricated ‘incidents’ as an excuse to go to war several times.” Having later learned more about a type of such incidents known as “false-flag attacks,” I wrote at some length about them.40 Originally, a false-flag attack was one in which the attackers, perhaps in ships, literally showed the flag of an enemy country, so that it would wrongly be blamed for the attack. But the expression has come to be used for any attack made to appear to be the work of some country, party, or group other than that to which the attackers themselves belong.

Imperial powers have regularly staged such attacks as pretexts for consolidating power or going to war. When Japan’s army in 1931 decided to take over Manchuria, it blew up the tracks of its own railway near the Chinese military base in Mukden, then blamed Chinese solders. This “Mukden incident,” which occurred on September 18 and is still known in China as “9/18,” began the Pacific part of World War II.41 In 1933, after the Nazis took power, they started a fire in the Reichstag (the German parliament building), blamed the Communist Party, then used the event as a pretext to imprison enemies, to annul civil liberties, and to consolidate power.42 In 1939, when Hitler wanted a pretext to attack Poland, he had Germans dressed as Poles stage raids on German outposts on the Polish–German border, in some cases leaving dead German convicts dressed as Polish soldiers at the scene. The next day, referring to these “border incidents,” Hitler attacked Poland in “self-defense,” thereby starting the European part of World War II.43

The United States itself has used lies to start many wars: the Mexican–American war, based on President Polk’s false claim that Mexico had “shed American blood on the American soil”;44 the Spanish–American war, started on the basis of the false claim that Spain had sunk the US battleship Maine;45 the war in the Philippines, based on the false claim that Filipinos had fired first;46 and the full-scale part of the Vietnam war, based on the Tonkin Gulf hoax.47

Although those deceptive claims did not involve false-flag attacks, such attacks were sponsored after World War II by the United States in Western European countries in order to dissuade their citizens from voting for Communists and other leftists. NATO, working with right-wing organizations and guided by the CIA and the Pentagon, organized terrorist attacks, then planted evidence to implicate leftists.48 In Italy, where the terrorist campaign was known as Operation Gladio, one of these attacks—a massive explosion in the waiting room of the railway station in Bologna—killed 85 people and wounded another 200.49

The best-known example of a Pentagon-planned false-flag attack within the United States was one that was planned but not carried out—Operation Northwoods, which was discussed in Chapter 7 of NPH.

It is of utmost importance to realize that America’s political and military leaders have planned and sometimes put into effect such deceitful operations, because this knowledge overcomes what is probably the main a priori reason for rejecting the idea that 9/11 was a false-flag operation: the assumption that our political and military leaders simply would not do such a heinous thing. Also, being aware that such operations invariably involve the planting of false evidence makes it easier to see the planted 9/11 evidence, to be discussed in Chapters 3 and 6, for what it was.

“CONSPIRACY THEORIES”


In spite of the fact that members of the 9/11 truth community have repeatedly pointed out the illogic and even dishonesty involved in using the “conspiracy theory” label to discredit the alternative account of 9/11, this practice has continued unabated. For example, when the editors of Popular Mechanics put out their book in 2006, they called it Debunking 9/11 Myths: Why Conspiracy Theories Can’t Stand Up to the Facts50—thereby implying that the official account, which they were defending, was not a conspiracy theory. Jim Dwyer wrote a New York Times article entitled “2 US Reports Seek to Counter Conspiracy Theories About 9/11,”51 although a more accurate title would have been: “2 US Reports Say Government’s Conspiracy Theory is Better than Alternative Conspiracy Theory.” Matthew Rothschild, the editor of The Progressive, published an essay entitled “Enough of the 9/11 Conspiracy Theories, Already,”52 although he was not calling on the government to stop espousing its own conspiracy theory. Rothschild spoke pejoratively of my books as writings in which “Griffin has peddled his conspiracy theory,” but he did not characterize The 9/11 Commission Report as a book in which the Zelikow-led Commission “peddled the government’s conspiracy theory.” The conceit that it is only the alternative account of 9/11 that is a conspiracy theory was also expressed in the title of a Time magazine article, “Why the 9/11 Conspiracies Won’t Go Away.”53

While illegitimate, this one-sided use of the term can be effective, because it allows defenders of the official story to exploit the fact that “conspiracy theory” is used in two ways: in a generic sense and in a pejorative sense. A conspiracy, according to my dictionary,54 is “an agreement to perform together an illegal, treacherous, or evil act.” To hold a conspiracy theory in the generic sense, therefore, is simply to believe that some event resulted from such an agreement. Given this generic meaning, the official account of 9/11 is obviously a conspiracy theory, because it holds that the attacks resulted from an agreement between Osama bin Laden and fellow members of al-Qaeda.

But conspiracy theories in the generic sense can either be rational theories, based on good evidence and logical inferences, or irrational theories, based on false or cherry-picked evidence and illogical inferences. The pejorative use of the term “conspiracy theory” falsely implies that all conspiracy theories are of this irrational type. The genus has fallaciously been equated with one of its species.

Because this pejorative usage has become widespread, however, people can discredit a theory without having to provide any evidence against it, because simply to call it a conspiracy theory is to damn it. Columnist Paul Krugman, commenting on this tactic, has written:


The truth is that many of the people who throw around terms like “loopy conspiracy theories” are lazy bullies who [as one observer put it] want to “confer instant illegitimacy on any argument with which they disagree.” Instead of facing up to hard questions, they try to suggest that anyone who asks those questions is crazy.55



In order for this tactic to work with regard to 9/11, the fact that the official theory is a conspiracy theory must be suppressed.

Accordingly, to get people to be empirical about 9/11, it is important to keep making this obvious but widely ignored point—that the official theory is itself a conspiracy theory. My D9D, for example, is subtitled “An Answer to Popular Mechanics and Other Defenders of the Official Conspiracy Theory.” It is also necessary to keep reminding people of a complementary point. In the preface to our book in which “intellectuals speak out” about 9/11, Peter Dale Scott and I said that our book “demonstrates that alternative accounts of 9/11 cannot be dismissed on the grounds that they are offered only by people who fit the label of ‘conspiracy theorists’ in the pejorative sense.”56

Besides making these points, moreover, I have argued that it is the official account of 9/11 that best fits the description of a conspiracy theory in the pejorative sense. In responding to Thomas Kean and Lee Hamilton’s Without Precedent: The Inside Story of the 9/11 Commission,57 I pointed out that they accurately said that conspiracy theorists (in the pejorative sense) typically exemplify five characteristics: They (1) begin with their theories rather than the facts; (2) continue to hold their theories after they have been disproved; (3) ignore all evidence that contradicts their theories; (4) uncritically accept any evidence that supports their theories; and (5) have disdain for open and informed debate.

The only flaw in Kean and Hamilton’s discussion was their failure to acknowledge that these characteristics are exemplified most fully by supporters of the official theory about 9/11, such as themselves. Take the first characteristic: Besides the fact that the 9/11 Commission began with the assumption that the 9/11 attacks were orchestrated by Osama bin Laden and al-Qaeda, its executive director, Philip Zelikow, even prepared a detailed outline of its final report before the Commission had began its investigation (as discussed in Chapter 10). Or take the fifth characteristic: Members of the 9/11 Commission, members of the Bush administration, scientists at NIST, and the editors of Popular Mechanics have all refused invitations to debate leading members of the 9/11 truth movement.58 It is advocates of the official conspiracy theory, not advocates of the alternative theory, who have disdained public debate.

The chapters to follow will show, even more clearly than did NPH, why those who have articulated the official theory avoid debating this theory in public with knowledgeable members of the 9/11 truth community.






1. FLIGHT 11, FLIGHT 175, AND THE WORLD TRADE CENTER: NEW DEVELOPMENTS


Chapter 1 of NPH requires considerable commentary, partly because it covered so many things—not only Flights 11 and 175 but also the destruction of the World Trade Center—and partly because it contained some inaccuracies.

One inaccuracy was that I spoke only of NORAD (the North American Aerospace Defense Command), not also specifically of NORAD’s Northeast Air Defense Sector, known as NEADS, located in Rome, New York. All the 9/11 flights were in that sector, so the FAA’s contact with the military would have been with NEADS. Whenever I wrote that NORAD was contacted by the FAA or had planes scrambled, therefore, I should have instead written “NEADS.” Contacting NORAD would usually mean contacting NORAD headquarters at Peterson Air Force Base or NORAD’s operations center at Cheyenne Mountain, both in Colorado, or else the headquarters of NORAD’s Continental United States Region, which is at Tyndall Air Force Base in Florida. Air traffic controllers at the FAA’s Boston Center would have always contacted NEADS, not NORAD as such.

AMERICAN AIRLINES FLIGHT 11

One problem in the discussion of this flight was my claim that “the loss of radio contact alone [at 8:14] would have led the flight controller to begin emergency procedures.” I later learned that the momentary loss of radio contact is not uncommon and that controllers typically try for a minute or so to reestablish contact before notifying anyone. Also, although the additional loss of the transponder signal would increase the controllers’ concern, it might not lead them to call the military immediately. Absolutely correct, however, was the quotation from MSNBC saying that, when a plane goes significantly off course, “It’s considered a real emergency,” leading the flight controllers to “hit the panic button.” This is because an off-course plane might well run into another plane. Therefore, although the FAA’s Boston Center might not have called the military at 8:14 or 8:15, it should immediately have done so at 8:21, after Flight 11 was observed going off course. Both Robin Hordon, who previously worked at Boston Center, and Colin Scoggins, who still works there as the military specialist, have indicated that they would have called by 8:22 at the latest.1

The most important problem in my discussion, however, was that I did not distinguish between two different reasons for contacting the military: hijackings and in-flight emergencies. This is important because the pre-9/11 protocols were very different.

The protocol for dealing with hijackings was quite slow, for several reasons. First, it often takes time to establish whether a plane has really been hijacked. Second, it was assumed that hijackers would not be on suicide missions but would be intent on entering into negotiations to attain something. Accordingly, a regional FAA center would contact FAA headquarters in Washington, which would have its hijack coordinator contact the military. Third, after military planes were sent up, they would not intercept the hijacked plane but would follow several miles behind it, out of sight, “escorting” it.

The protocol for an in-flight emergency was, by contrast, aimed at intercepting the plane as quickly as possible. In Robin Hordon’s words:


[T]he interceptor “launch system” is sitting in waiting for immediate reaction and launch. Interceptors are located in open-ended hangars near the ends of runways, the flight crews are located within a few feet and few moments of climbing on board the fighter, the mechanics keep the aircraft mechanically fit and warm with power sources connected for immediate startup . . . . This is a highly skilled and highly practiced event. . . . Everyone [concerned is] prepared to launch within a few minutes of the request. . . . The “emergency scramble protocol” [then] calls for the fighter pilots to fly at top speed to intercept the emergency aircraft.2



I had failed to make this distinction, saying instead that the early danger signs were evidence that American Flight 11 had been hijacked. I should have said that they were signs that the plane was experiencing an in-flight emergency and, therefore, fighters should have been scrambled immediately under the emergency protocol. Having made that distinction in D9D, I wrote:


If standard procedure had been followed, . . . the FAA would have notified NEADS no later than 8:22, NEADS would have issued the scramble order no later than 8:23, the fighters would have been airborne no later than 8:27, and AA 11 would have been intercepted by 8:37—over nine minutes before the North Tower of the World Trade Center was struck.3



This conclusion does not, incidentally, depend on my inference in NPH that fighters could have been scrambled from nearby McGuire Air Force Base in New Jersey, which is only 70 miles from NYC, instead of from Otis Air National Guard Base in Cape Cod. This inference was erroneous, because McGuire was not one of the bases that kept fighters on alert. But even planes coming from Otis, if they had taken off by 8:27, could have arrived over Manhattan with several minutes to spare.4

Accordingly, the conclusion of my discussion of American Flight 11 stands: If standard operating procedures had been followed, it would have been intercepted before the North Tower was struck.

The reason it was not, according to NORAD, was that the FAA had not followed standard procedures. Instead of notifying the military at 8:21 (after it saw Flight 11 go off course) or even at 8:25 (when it learned that this plane had been hijacked), the FAA did not notify NEADS until 8:40. This was stated in “NORAD’s Response Times,” an official document put out on September 18, one week after 9/11.5 But if FAA personnel at Boston Center had violated procedures so radically, with such disastrous consequences, they should have been fired and perhaps even charged with criminal dereliction of duty. But no one was even publicly reprimanded.

Also, the claim that Boston Center did not follow procedures has reportedly been denied by at least one of the controllers on duty that day. This controller has stated, according to Robin Hordon, that “the FAA was not asleep and the controllers. . . followed their own protocols.”6 On the basis of this testimony as well as his own familiarity with procedures, Hordon believes that the FAA had actually contacted NEADS by 8:20. Accordingly, Hordon believes: “When the very first call regarding AA 11 was initiated to any military facility is being covered up.”7

Hordon’s belief that the military was contacted by 8:20 is supported by Internet investigative journalist Tom Flocco. While attending the 9/11 Commission hearing in Washington, DC, on May 22, 2003, Flocco has reported, he learned from Laura Brown, the deputy in public affairs at FAA headquarters, that the National Military Command Center had initiated a teleconference at about 8:20 or 8:25 that morning. Flocco added that Brown, after returning to her office and conferring with superiors, sent him an e-mail revising the commencement time of the teleconference to “around 8:45AM.” Flocco, however, put more stock in her original statement, before Brown’s memory had been “refreshed” by her superiors.8

Even if we focus only on what happened after the FAA’s Boston Center had received what it took to be clear evidence that Flight 11 had been hijacked—namely, when it heard a voice at 8:25, presumably from Flight 11’s radio, saying: “We have some planes. Just stay quiet, and you’ll be okay. We are returning to the airport”—the official timeline is problematic. According to the 9/11 Commission, NEADS was not notified until 8:38 (NORAD’s timeline had said 8:40). But Colin Scoggins, who placed most of the calls from the FAA’s Boston Center to NEADS, has made various statements that, when taken together, imply that Boston Center’s first call to NEADS about the hijacking must have occurred at about 8:27 or 8:28, ten minutes earlier than the Commission claims.9 That earlier time is made additionally plausible by the fact that it is about when it should have occurred, if Boston had received evidence of the hijacking, as we are told, at 8:25.10

In NPH, I suggested that the best explanation for the military’s failure to intercept Flight 11 was that a stand-down order had been issued. The 9/11 Commission Report did nothing to weaken that suspicion. Indeed, the case against the official story about Flight 11 is even stronger today than when NPH was first published.

UNITED AIRLINES FLIGHT 175

The original official story about United Flight 175, as we saw in NPH, was even more problematic. The chief question was why, if the military learned about its hijacking at 8:43, this plane was not intercepted prior to 9:03. Twenty minutes was more than enough time. The Otis fighter jets should not have been 71 miles from Manhattan when the South Tower was struck at 9:03.

One reason they were still so far away, we were told, was that they were not airborne until 8:52. According to NORAD’s own timeline, however, this was nine minutes after NEADS had been notified about Flight 175 and at least twelve minutes after it had been notified about Flight 11. Why did it take so long?

The first part of the official answer was that NEADS did not give the scramble order to Otis until 8:46, at least six minutes after NEADS had been notified of the hijacking. Why? Because, we are told, Colonel Marr, the commander at NEADS, called to get authorization from General Larry Arnold, the head of NORAD’s Continental US Region, who was in a meeting and did not call back until 8:46.11 According to the military’s own manual, however, no such authorization was necessary.12

A second part of the reason for the delay was that even after the scramble order was given at 8:46, the planes were not airborne until 8:52. Why did it take the pilots six minutes to become airborne after they had received the scramble order? We were told that at 8:46, the pilots were merely given the green light to taxi onto the runway, where they sat “in their jets, straining at the reins.”13 This six-minute delay has never been satisfactorily explained. According to Colin Scoggins, the military has falsely tried to blame the FAA:


They [military officials] state in several places that they were waiting on a clearance from the FAA. That is false; we asked them on several occasions why the fighters had not launched. It seemed like an eternity.14



Elaborating on his statement about “several occasions,” he said that he and his colleagues called NEADS and Otis several times, asking NEADS if they had given the order to launch, then asking Otis if they had received the order.15 Scoggins clearly found the time it took to launch the Otis fighters far from normal.

However, even if the planes were not airborne until 8:52, they should have been able to intercept or shoot down Flight 175 before it reached New York City.

Some people have claimed that the pilots would not have shot the planes down. Robin Hordon, however, has said otherwise:


[M]ake no mistake about this, should the “hijacked aircraft” appear to threaten major populations, or seem to be headed for important military or civilian targets, then the pilots can shoot them down on their own. Shootdown orders are authorized for the pilots to use under certain conditions, some of them preapproved by higher ups, and some of them at a moment’s notice. . . . If an Otis fighter . . . pilot saw the Boeing descend and head straight for NYC, he would already be considering shooting the aircraft down miles and miles away from NYC. And this is regardless of it being an airliner full of passengers. If the pilot came to the conclusion that AA 11 was going to crash into NYC, or its nuclear plant, I will guarantee that AA 11 would have been shot down prior to hitting any buildings.16



If what Hordon says about American 11 is true, then it would have been all the more true about United 175, after American 11 had already crashed into the World Trade Center. The Otis pilots, therefore, would not have needed to intercept Flight 175 but only to get within range to down it with a missile. This fact makes the account given by NORAD, in its timeline put out on September 18, 2001, all the more problematic.

Perhaps because it agreed that NORAD’s account of Flight 175 was too problematic, the 9/11 Commission, amazingly, gave a completely new account. According to this new account, the FAA did not notify the military about United 175 at 8:43, as NORAD had said in “NORAD’s Response Times,” issued September 18, 2001. Rather, according to the Commission, “The first indication that the NORAD air defenders had of the second hijacked aircraft, United 175, came in a phone call from New York Center to NEADS at 9:03,” which was “at about the time the plane was hitting the South Tower.”17

The 9/11 Commission explained this extremely late notification in terms of a number of inexplicable failures on the part of FAA controllers. Even though the New York Center controller learned of a “suspicious transmission” from this flight at 8:42, we are told, this controller did not notice when, at about 8:44, “United 175 turned southwest without clearance from air traffic control.” Nor did he notice at 8:46 that the plane’s transponder code was changed twice. Moreover, although New York Center knew by 8:48 that United 175 had been hijacked, it made no attempt to contact the military, even after the course and code changes were finally noticed at 8:51. Rather, the Commission claimed, controllers and other FAA personnel merely began discussing among themselves the fact that United 175 was probably hijacked. Even between 9:01 and 9:02, when word of the probable hijacking reached the FAA’s Command Center in Herndon, Virginia, the military was not called. Finally, at 9:03, someone at New York Center called NEADS.18

To believe the 9/11 Commission’s account, we must not only believe that the controllers at the FAA’s New York Center could have acted so irresponsibly. We must also believe that they could have done so without being fired or even reprimanded.

The basis for this wholly implausible account was a set of tape recordings of telephone conversations in NORAD’s air traffic monitoring stations on 9/11. These NORAD tapes, which were obtained by the Commission in late 2003, were said by it to contain the “true story of the military’s response on September 11.”19 In D9D, however, I argued that the more plausible view, for various reasons, is that the tapes were doctored before they were turned over to the Commission, so that they presented a falsified history.20 Although my full argument for this conclusion can be found only in D9D, some reasons for this conclusion will be mentioned here and in subsequent chapters.

One of those reasons is the very fact that the Commission’s tapes-based account of the FAA’s behavior in relation to United 175 is wholly implausible. Another reason is the fact that the 9/11 Commission’s new story about United 175 also contradicts many previous reports.

One of those reports was, of course, “NORAD’s Response Times,” issued September 18, 2001. If the military had really not been notified about Flight 175 until 9:03, as the 9/11 Commission claims, why would NORAD have reported, one week after 9/11, that it had been notified at 8:43? The Commission concluded that the military, in preparing this timeline, had lied.21 However, although we can understand that the military might lie to cover up its own incompetence, we cannot imagine that, if the failure to stop Flight 175 was entirely the FAA’s fault, the military would have lied to make it seem as if the fault had been at least partly its own.

Even before the publication of this NORAD document, moreover, CNN had published a timeline, derived from “informed defense officials,” that included this entry: “8:43 AM: FAA notified NORAD that United Airlines flight 175 has been hijacked.”22

The FAA’s early notification of the military about Flight 175 was also stated in many other news reports. For example, an Associated Press story in 2002, after saying that the FAA had notified NORAD about the possible hijacking of American 11 at 8:40, said: “[T]hree minutes after that, NORAD was told United Airlines 175 had been hijacked.”23 In an NBC program on the first anniversary of 9/11, Tom Brokaw said that NORAD, after being “alerted to a second hijacking,” scrambled “two F-15 fighter jets from Otis air force base in Massachusetts to potentially intercept the United plane.”24

The 9/11 Commission’s later claim that the military was not notified about United 175 also ran counter to the testimony of several military officers. One of these was Captain Michael Jellinek, a Canadian who was overseeing NORAD headquarters in Colorado that day. According to a story in the Toronto Star, Jellinek was on the line with personnel at NEADS while they watched United 175 crash into the South Tower. Jellinek then asked: “Was that the hijacked aircraft you were dealing with?” They replied: “Yes, it was.”25 NEADS could hardly have been “dealing with” United 175 if it had not learned about its troubles until after it crashed.

Another officer whose testimony was contradicted by the 9/11 Commission’s new story was Brigadier General Montague Winfield, who on 9/11 was the deputy director of operations at the Pentagon’s National Military Command Center (NMCC). In 2002, he said on an ABC special about 9/11:


When the second aircraft flew into the second tower, it was at that point that we realized that the seemingly unrelated hijackings that the FAA was dealing with were in fact a part of a coordinated terrorist attack on the United States.26



Although the Commission would later claim, on the basis of the tapes that it received from NORAD, that the military prior to 9:03 was aware of only one hijacking—that of AA 11, which had already crashed—Winfield, in speaking of the military’s awareness prior to 9:03, referred in the plural to the “seemingly unrelated hijackings.”

Another report of prior notification was contained in a 2003 book by Pamela Freni entitled Ground Stop: An Inside Look at the Federal Aviation Administration on September 11, 2001. After the Otis pilots had taken off at 8:52, Freni reported, “Word of the hijacking of UA175 was passed up to them.”27

The 9/11 Commission’s tapes-based claim that the FAA did not notify the military about United 175 until it had crashed is also contradicted by a memo, “FAA Communications with NORAD on September 11, 2001,” which was sent to the 9/11 Commission on May 22, 2003 by Laura Brown, the deputy in public affairs at FAA headquarters. This memo, in seeking to clarify how the FAA responded to the events of 9/11, said:


Within minutes after the first aircraft hit the World Trade Center, the FAA immediately established several phone bridges [telephone conferences] that included FAA field facilities, the FAA Command Center, FAA headquarters, DOD [meaning the NMCC in the Department of Defense], the Secret Service. . . . The US Air Force liaison to the FAA immediately joined the FAA headquarters phone bridge and established contact with NORAD. . . . The FAA shared real-time information on the phone bridges about the unfolding events, including information about loss of communication with aircraft, loss of transponder signals, unauthorized changes in course, and other actions being taken by all the flights of interest.28



“Within minutes” after the first attack would mean about 8:50. “[A]ll flights of interest” at that time would have definitely included United 175, because even if people at FAA headquarters had not yet learned about this flight, they would have been quickly informed by the Boston and New York “field facilities.” This memo implied, therefore, that NORAD and the NMCC would have learned about United 175’s situation from this teleconference.

How did the 9/11 Commission deal with the fact that all these reports contradicted its explanation as to why the military did not intercept United Flight 175? By simply failing to mention them, thereby implicitly admitting that it could not explain why, if its new story were true, all those reports existed. This is a serious problem. To believe the Commission’s tapes-based account, one would need to assume that Captain Jellinek, General Winfield, and the authors of the NORAD’s timeline as well as the authors of the FAA memo had lied. We can understand that the authors of the FAA memo might have lied to make their personnel look better. But what possible motivation would the military people have had for lying?

In sum, the 9/11 Commission’s new explanation of why United 175 was able to strike the World Trade Center is no more successful than the story that the military had told from 2001 until the Commission constructed, on the basis of the NORAD tapes, its new story in 2004. I will present more reasons in later chapters for believing this tapes-based account to be false. For now, the point to emphasize is that when all the evidence is taken into account, we can only conclude that Flight 175 could not have hit the World Trade Center unless there had been a stand-down order, canceling standard operating procedures.29 In the next chapter, moreover, I will quote the testimony of a man who reports having learned, from conversations involving security officials at LAX, that a White House-ordered stand down had in fact occurred.

THE COLLAPSE OF THE TWIN TOWERS


With regard to the destruction of the World Trade Center, two very important developments have occurred since NPH was published. First, in 2005, NIST (the National Institute of Standards and Technology) issued what was billed as the definitive official report on the collapse of the Twin Towers. (Although this report was originally intended to deal with WTC 7 as well, this part of NIST’s report has been repeatedly delayed, as discussed below.) Second, a large number of people with academic and professional qualifications to evaluate this report—including physicists, architects, and structural engineers—have joined the 9/11 truth movement. As a result, even though the official theory of the World Trade Center, according to which the three buildings came down without the aid of explosives, was endorsed by NIST, the case against it is even stronger now than it was in 2004.30

NIST AS POLITICAL AGENCY


By way of preparing readers for how shockingly bad NIST’s report is, I will point out that NIST is not a neutral, independent organization; it is an agency of the US Department of Commerce. While NIST was writing its report, therefore, it was an agency of the Bush administration, which, according to a statement signed by over 12,000 scientists (including 52 Nobel Laureates and 63 recipients of the National Medal of Science), has been guilty of engaging in “distortion of scientific knowledge for partisan political ends.”31

A former NIST employee has, in fact, reported that in recent years this agency has been “fully hijacked from the scientific into the political realm.” As a result, scientists working for NIST “lost [their] scientific independence, and became little more than ‘hired guns.’” With regard to 9/11-related issues, this whistleblower said:


By 2001, everyone in NIST leadership had been trained to pay close heed to political pressures. There was no chance that NIST people “investigating” the 9/11 situation could have been acting in the true spirit of scientific independence. . . . Everything that came from the hired guns was by then routinely filtered through the front office, and assessed for political implications before release.32



In fact, this whistleblower said, all reports, besides being examined by the front office, were also scrutinized by three external oversight groups: the National Security Agency, “the HQ staff of the Department of Commerce” (“which scrutinized our work very closely and frequently wouldn’t permit us to release papers or give talks without changes to conform to their way of looking at things”), and the Office of Management and Budget (which is “an arm of the Executive Office of the President” and “had a policy person specifically delegated to provide oversight on our work”).33

NIST’s report on the WTC must, accordingly, be viewed as a political, not a scientific, document34—a fact that will be illustrated in the following discussion.

NIST’s FIVE CRUCIAL CLAIMS


NIST’s theory of the collapse of the Twin Towers is in one respect the same as that of MIT Professor Thomas Eagar, which was discussed in NPH: Both theories have tried to explain the collapses totally in terms of the impact of the airplanes, the resulting fires, and gravity. Otherwise, however, NIST’s theory is significantly different, partly by giving more importance to the impact of the planes. According to NIST, the towers collapsed primarily because of five factors: (1) the towers were not constructed to withstand the impact of a plane as large as a Boeing 767; (2) the planes sliced several core columns and stripped the fireproofing insulation from many more;35 (3) the subsequent fires weakened these susceptible columns; (4) the fires produced sagging floors, which pulled perimeter columns inward, thereby reducing their support capacity; and (5) the upper portion of each building, above the impact zone, fell down on the lower portion, exerting such downward momentum that this lower portion collapsed at virtually free-fall speed.

NIST’s theory is clearly inadequate, because each of these five claims is unsupported by the relevant evidence.

(1) The Alleged Unanticipated Impact of the Airliners: NIST’s Final Report, put out in 2005, said that building codes for buildings to be used by the general population “do not require building designs to consider aircraft impact.”36 NIST thereby implied that the Twin Towers had not been designed to withstand the impact of a large airliner.

However, a 1964 document, which was in the files of the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey, summarized a structural analysis of the Twin Towers carried out by the firm of Worthington, Skilling, Helle & Jackson. One of the points said:


The buildings have been investigated and found to be safe in an assumed collision with a large jet airliner (Boeing 707–DC 8) traveling at 600 miles per hour. Analysis indicates that such collision would result in only local damage which could not cause collapse.37



In January 2001, Frank De Martini, who had been the on-site construction manager for the World Trade Center, said of one of the towers: “The building was designed to have a fully loaded 707 crash into it, that was the largest plane at the time. I believe that the building could probably sustain multiple impacts of jet liners.”38

Those two statements led to one of the questions to which NIST responded in a 2006 document, “Answers to Frequently Asked Questions,” namely: “If the World Trade Center (WTC) towers were designed to withstand multiple impacts by Boeing 707 aircraft, why did the impact of individual 767s cause so much damage?”39

NIST, failing to acknowledge that the question was based partly on De Martini’s statement, replied that the Port Authority “indicated that the impact of a [single, not multiple] Boeing 707 aircraft was analyzed during the design stage of the WTC towers.”40 By ignoring De Martini’s statement, NIST implied, with its bracketed words, that the question was based on faulty information.

Then, in seeking to refute the idea that if a 707 would not have induced collapse, neither would a 767, NIST said that “a Boeing 767 aircraft. . . is about 20 percent bigger than a Boeing 707.” That fact alone, however, would not necessarily mean that a 767 would do more damage: As NIST itself acknowledged, the damage on 9/11 “was caused by the large mass of the aircraft [and] their high speed and momentum.” In other words, speed as well as mass had to be considered. This point is crucial, because the 1964 analysis spoke of a Boeing 707 traveling at 600 mph, whereas the 767s that hit the North and South Towers were reportedly traveling at only 440 and 540 mph, respectively.41 As a result, the kinetic energy of the envisaged Boeing 707 would actually have been greater than the kinetic energy of the 767s, especially the one that hit the North Tower, which was reportedly going only 440 mph.42 There was, accordingly, no justification for NIST’s insinuation that the 767s, because of their greater weight, would have caused more damage than the envisaged 707s.

Another problem with NIST’s argument was that it failed to acknowledge a statement by John Skilling, who was responsible for the structural design of the Twin Towers. In 1993, after the bombing of the World Trade Center, he said that, according to his analysis, if one of these buildings were to suffer a strike by a jet plane loaded with jet fuel, “there would be a horrendous fire” and “a lot of people would be killed,” but “the building structure would still be there.”43 If NIST had been a truth-seeking body, it would not have ignored this important statement.

In sum: NIST claimed that “the structural damage to the towers was due to the aircraft impact and not to any alternative forces,” such as pre-set explosives. But it failed to provide any good reason to conclude that the impact of a 767 would have caused sufficient structural damage to help initiate collapse.

(2) The Alleged Cutting and Stripping of Columns: NIST, nevertheless, made very strong claims about the kind of damage caused by the impact of each 767. This alleged damage was of two types: many core columns (as well as peripheral columns) were severed, and fireproofing insulation was stripped from many other core columns.

To begin with the severing: NIST claimed that six of the North Tower’s core columns and ten of the South Tower’s were severed. The claim that the South Tower’s core was more severely damaged was then used by NIST to explain why it collapsed more quickly.44 (As we saw in NPH, this was a serious problem: If the buildings collapsed because the fire weakened the steel, the North Tower, which was struck first, should have collapsed first.)

However, even if we grant, for the sake of argument, that core columns could have been severed, the idea that more of the South Tower’s core columns would have been severed is extremely implausible, for two reasons. First, whereas the North Tower was struck at approximately the 95th floor, the South Tower was struck near the 80th floor, where the core columns were considerably thicker. They would have been less, rather than more, likely to be severed. Second, NIST’s own discussion, besides suggesting that the engines were the only parts of the planes likely to sever core columns, also suggested that an engine would sever a column only if it struck it directly.45 Yet the plane that hit the North Tower struck the building in the center, so that both engines would have been headed toward its core, whereas the South Tower was struck near the right corner, so only the plane’s left engine could have struck a core column. Accordingly, if there were severed columns in both towers, there should have been fewer, not more, in the South Tower.46

As architect Eric Douglas has pointed out, NIST’s estimates were based entirely on computer simulations.47 In coming up with estimates, it began, in the words of NIST’s own scientists, with “a ‘base case’ based on a best estimate of all input parameters.” But it also provided “more and less severe damage estimates based on variations of the most influential parameters.”48 NIST then chose the most severe estimates. Why? “NIST selected the more severe cases because,” Douglas says, “they were the only ones that produced the desired outcome.”49 The more severe estimates were needed, in other words, to produce collapse. In dealing with the South Tower, for example, NIST first estimated that from three to ten core columns were broken, then chose the most severe estimate, because only with it would the tower, in the computer simulation, collapse.50

That Douglas’s description of NIST’s method is no misrepresentation can be seen from the following statement in NIST’s Final Report:


The Investigation Team . . . defined three cases for each building by combining the middle, less severe, and more severe values of the influential variables. Upon a preliminary examination of the middle cases, it became clear that the towers would likely remain standing. The less severe cases were discarded after the aircraft impact results were compared to observed events [meaning the fact that the buildings collapsed]. The middle cases . . . were discarded after the structural response analysis of major subsystems were [sic] compared to observed events. . . . The more severe case . . . was used for the global analysis of each tower.51



It appears, moreover, that collapse was not generated even by the most extreme variables, so an adjustment was necessary. In NIST’s own words: “Complete sets of simulations were then performed for [the extreme variables]. . . . To the extent that the simulations deviated from the photographic evidence or eyewitness reports, the investigators adjusted the input.”52

Steven Jones, having quoted this passage, commented: “How fun to tweak the model like that, until one gets the desired result!”53 Douglas, spelling out Jones’s implicit criticism, said:


[A] fundamental problem with using computer simulation is the overwhelming temptation to manipulate the input data until one achieves the desired results. Thus, what appears to be a conclusion is actually a premise. We see NIST succumb to this temptation throughout its investigation. . . . NIST tweaked the input until the buildings fell down.54



The fact of the matter is that no one really has any idea how many, if any, of the core columns in the Twin Towers were severed by the planes. All we know is that the numbers given by NIST (six in the North Tower and ten in the South) must be posited if the towers were to collapse in NIST’s computer simulations—on the assumption, of course, that explosives were not used. NIST’s (circular) logic ran like this:

(1) If explosives were not used, then all those core columns had to have been severed by the planes.

(2) Explosives were not used.

(3) Therefore, all those core columns were severed by the planes.

NIST then cited this conclusion as evidence that explosives were not used.

Equally problematic was NIST’s claim that the planes also stripped the fireproofing insulation from many of the unsevered core columns on several floors. This claim was an essential part of its theory, as NIST clearly stated, saying:


The WTC towers would likely not have collapsed under the combined effects of aircraft impact damage and the extensive, multifloor fires that were encountered on September 11, 2001, if the thermal insulation had not been widely dislodged or had been only minimally dislodged by aircraft impact.55



Quantifying its claim that the insulation was “widely dislodged,” NIST estimated that the airplanes stripped the insulation from 43 of the North Tower’s 47 core columns and from 39 of the South Tower’s.

The method reportedly used by NIST to reach those figures does not inspire confidence. Former Underwriters Laboratories scientist Kevin Ryan discovered that NIST’s “test for fireproofing loss. . . involved shooting a total of fifteen rounds from a shotgun at non-representative samples in a plywood box. Flat steel plates were used instead of column samples.”56

From this description, we can infer that NIST’s real method for determining how many of the columns were stripped was the same method it used for determining how many core columns were severed: a computer simulation, in which NIST tweaked the variables until collapse was produced.

(3) The Alleged Weakening of the Core Columns: According to NIST, once some of the core columns were severed and others lost their fireproofing insulation on the impact floors, fire heated these columns to a point where they lost so much of their strength that they buckled, allowing the top portion of the building to fall down on the lower portion.

Were the fires really hot enough to heat the core columns to a temperature at which they would lose much of their strength? Besides claiming that the fires reached 1,000°C (1,832°F),57 NIST even gave the impression that some of the steel columns themselves reached this temperature, saying: “[W]hen bare steel reaches temperatures of 1,000 degrees Celsius, it softens and its strength reduces to roughly 10 percent of its room temperature value.”58 NIST led the reader to believe, in other words, that some of the core columns lost 90 percent of their strength.

However, for a fire to heat even a portion of a column to a point where it would even begin to approximate the gas temperature (the fire’s own temperature), the fire would need to maintain that temperature for a long time. A single piece of steel can, to be sure, heat up quite quickly. But, as Mark Gaffney has written:


The columns in each tower were part of an interconnected steel framework that weighed some 90,000 tons; and because steel is known to be at least a fair conductor of heat, on 9/11 this massive steel superstructure functioned as an enormous energy sink. The total volume of the steel framework was vast compared with the relatively small area of exposed steel, and would have wicked away much of the fire-generated heat. . . . The fires on 9/11 would have taken many hours. . . to slowly raise the temperature of the steel framework as a whole to the point of weakening even a few exposed members.59



Moreover, NIST itself said: “At any given location, the duration of the temperatures near 1,000°C was about 15 min to 20 min. The rest of the time, the calculated temperatures were near 500°C or below.”60 So even if the fires had occasionally risen to 1,000°C here and there, no steel columns would have reached that temperature, by NIST’s own calculations.

NIST also admitted, most significantly, that its analysis of recovered steel found “no evidence that any of the samples had reached temperatures above 600°C [1,112°F].” This was, it should be noted, a statement about recovered steel of every type, not simply steel from columns.61

With regard to steel from columns in particular, NIST reported that, having examined 16 perimeter columns, it found that “only three columns had evidence that the steel reached temperatures above 250°C [482°F].” What about core columns? NIST reported that it found no evidence that any of the core columns had reached even that temperature.62 In other words, although NIST insinuated that some core columns had “reached temperatures of 1,000 degrees Celsius,” it had no empirical evidence from its own scientists that any of them had even reached 250 degrees Celsius (482 degrees Fahrenheit)!

NIST’s own scientists, therefore, provided no evidence to support the contention of NIST’s Final Report that the core columns had been weakened by fire. “[S]tructural steel,” MIT’s Thomas Eagar has pointed out, “begins to soften around 425°C [797°F].”63 NIST had no empirical evidence, therefore, that any of the core columns had reached the temperature at which they would even begin to weaken, let alone a temperature at which they would become so weak that they might buckle.

NIST’s report was, however, replete with statements that the fires did weaken the core columns, such as this one: “As the structural temperatures continued to rise, the columns thermally weakened and consequently shortened.” Here is another example: “Under high temperatures. . . in the core area, the remaining core columns with damaged insulation were thermally weakened.”64

NIST made these claims in spite of the fact that its own tests found only a few perimeter columns that had “reached temperatures above 250°C” and no core columns that had reached 250°C. How could NIST justify its claim in light of these results? It simply said that it “did not generalize these results, since the examined columns represented only. . . 1 percent of the core columns from the fire floors.”65 NIST claimed, in other words, that the pieces it tested could not be assumed to be representative. But there are two problems with this claim.

First, although it is true that the tests did not prove that no columns got hotter than those tested, they also provided no evidence that any of them did get hotter than those tested. Any claim that some columns became hot enough to begin losing strength (425°C; 797°F) would be pure speculation, devoid of empirical support. Such speculation would be especially unwarranted in light of the fact that the fires in the cores, where there was an oxygen deficiency (as shown by the black smoke emanating therefrom), would most likely have been cooler than the fires by the peripheral columns near the holes made by the planes.

The second problem with NIST’s rationale is that it contradicts what NIST itself had previously said. In a December 2003 report, it wrote:


NIST has in its possession about 236 pieces of WTC steel. . . . NIST believes that this collection of steel from the WTC Towers is adequate for purposes of the Investigation [emphasis NIST’s]. Regions of impact and fire damage were emphasized in the selection of steel for the Investigation.



It also wrote:


These pieces represent a small fraction of the enormous amount of steel examined at the various salvage yards where the steel was sent as the WTC site was cleared. In addition, NIST has examined additional steel stored by the Port Authority at JFK airport and has transported 12 of those specimens to NIST.66



Given NIST’s threefold statement that it had examined an “enormous amount of steel,” that “[r]egions of impact and fire damage were emphasized in the selection of steel for the Investigation,” and that this selection was deemed to be “adequate for purposes of the Investigation,” how could it later claim that it need not be bound by the results of this investigation because the pieces it analyzed were not representative?

When challenged on this point in a “Request for Correction” sent by Steven Jones, Kevin Ryan, and other members of the 9/11 truth movement,67 NIST replied: “NIST has stated that, ‘the steel recovered is sufficient for determining the quality of the steel and... for determining mechanical properties.”68 NIST thereby implied that it had never assumed that the recovered steel would be sufficient for determining the temperatures reached by the steel in the towers.

But after NIST had emphasized in its December 2003 report that its collection of steel was “adequate for purposes of the Investigation,” it added: “The NIST analysis of recovered WTC steel includes: . . . Estimating the maximum temperature reached by available steel.”69 NIST had, therefore, clearly stated that it had selected its steel partly to make a judgment about the maximum temperature reached by the steel in the towers.

It is hard to avoid the suspicion that NIST started describing its steel as unrepresentative and insufficient only after it realized that, if the towers in its computer simulations were to collapse, the steel in the core columns would have needed to attain temperatures far greater than those for which NIST had physical evidence.70 Accordingly, the only recourse for the authors of NIST’s Final Report was to dismiss the empirical evidence provided by its own scientists as unrepresentative.

It must be emphasized that NIST’s claim that the core columns were heated to a temperature at which they would have lost a significant amount of strength—whether 90 percent, 50 percent, or even 20 percent—is pure speculation. Besides not being warranted by any physical evidence, it even runs counter to the evidence presented by NIST’s own scientists. NIST has failed, therefore, to provide credible support for its claim that the core columns, having been stripped of their fireproofing insulation, would have been greatly weakened by the fires.

(4) The Alleged Floor Sagging: Another essential part of NIST’s theory is its claim that the fires, by heating some of the floors, caused them to sag so much that they pulled on perimeter columns, causing them to bow inward. This claim differentiates NIST’s theory from the “pancake” theory proposed by Thomas Eagar and presupposed by the 9/11 Commission, according to which the floors fell because they became disconnected from the columns. NIST said, by contrast, that the floors that were caused to sag by the fires “remain[ed] connected to the columns and pull[ed] the columns inwards.”71

In order to make this claim, however, NIST had to fudge the data enormously. For example, NIST’s physical tests showed that the fires, even if they had been as hot as NIST claimed, would have caused the floors to sag less than 4 inches. But in NIST’s computer simulations, the floors sagged some 42 inches! (See “Request for Correction” and a follow-up “Appeal”).72

(5) The Alleged Irresistible Downward Momentum of the Top Section: NIST’s assigned task, as it pointed out, was to “[d]etermine why and how WTC 1 and WTC 2 collapsed following the initial impacts of the aircraft.”73 NIST completed its explanation of these collapses by saying that, after the towers had been weakened by the developments discussed in the preceding points, “the massive top section of [each] building at and above the fire and impact floors” fell down on the lower section, which “could not resist the tremendous energy released by [the top section’s] downward movement.”74 The statement that it “could not resist” means that it provided virtually no resistance: “Since the stories below the level of collapse initiation provided little resistance to the tremendous energy released by the falling building mass, the building section above came down essentially in free fall, as seen in videos.”75

But NIST thereby at best gave a description, not an explanation. This fact is illustrated by NIST’s statement that, once the top portion of the building started falling, the “story immediately below the stories in which the columns failed was not able to arrest this initial movement as evidenced by videos from several vantage points.”76 As the aforementioned “Request for Correction” pointed out, this statement describes what happened “but gives the reader absolutely no idea why it occurred.”77

Such an explanation was required, because the description—“the building section above came down essentially in free fall, as seen in videos”—runs counter to basic physical principles, most obviously the conservation of momentum (assuming, as NIST did, that steel supports for the lower section had not been removed by explosives). William Rice, who has both practiced and taught structural engineering, has made this point, saying:


[E]ach of these 110-story Twin Towers fell upon itself in about ten seconds at nearly free-fall speed. This violates Newton’s Law of Conservation of Momentum that would require that as the stationary inertia of each floor is overcome by being hit, the mass (weight) increases and the free-fall speed decreases. Even if Newton’s Law is ignored, the prevailing theory would have us believe that each of the Twin Towers inexplicably collapsed upon itself crushing all 287 massive columns on each floor while maintaining a free-fall speed as if the 100,000, or more, tons of supporting structural-steel framework underneath didn’t exist.78



Another structural engineer, Edward Knesl, has written:


It is impossible that heavy steel columns could collapse at the fraction of the second within each story and subsequently at each floor below. . . . The engineering science and the law of physics simply doesn’t know such possibility. Only very sophisticated controlled demolition can achieve such result, eliminating the natural dampening effect of the structural framing huge mass that should normally stop the partial collapse.79



NIST’s theory is, in other words, physically impossible. The authors of the “Request for Correction” made this same point, writing:


Basic principles of engineering (for example, the conservation of momentum principle) would dictate that the undamaged steel structure below the collapse initiation zone would, at the very least, resist and slow the downward movement of the stories above. There is, indeed, a good chance that the structural strength of the steelwork below would arrest the downward movement of the stories above. NIST must explain why the intact structure below the impact zone offered so little resistance to the collapse of the building.80



NIST gave the appearance of offering an explanation by saying:


The structure below the level of collapse initiation offered minimal resistance to the falling building mass at and above the impact zone. The potential energy released by the downward movement of the large building mass far exceeded the capacity of the intact structure below to absorb that through energy of deformation.81



However, the question that NIST needed to answer, with some quantitative analysis, was why the lower structure, if it truly was “intact,” did not have the capacity to absorb the energy exerted on it by the upper structure. The lower structure should have had far more than enough capacity to do this, especially given the fact that, as Gaffney points out, the columns in the lower part of the towers, being “untouched by the plane impacts and fires. . . suffered no loss of strength.”82

According to an analysis of the North Tower by mechanical engineer Gordon Ross, so much energy would have been absorbed by the lower structure that “vertical movement of the falling section would [have been] arrested . . . within 0.02 seconds after impact. A collapse driven only by gravity would not continue to progress beyond that point.”83 Ross’s analysis perhaps explains why NIST provided no quantitative analysis to support its claim.

The statement in the “Request for Correction” about the conservation of momentum was only one of many criticisms of NIST’s theory for violating this principle.84 In a December 2007 document, NIST responded to these criticisms by, incredibly, pretending that the question was whether “basic principles of conservation [were] satisfied in NIST’s analysis of the structural response of the towers to the aircraft impact.” But as physicist Crockett Grabbe has pointed out, “There was never any issue of the energy and momentum the plane impacts had on the towers!”85 All the questions raised about conservation principles have involved whether these principles were satisfied by NIST’s claims about the collapses of the towers. By pretending to be embarrassingly stupid, however, NIST’s “hired guns” were able to evade the question.

Determined not to let them continue to evade this question, Steven Jones and several colleagues raised it again in an article published in the (peer-reviewed) Open Civil Engineering Journal. They wrote:


NIST evidently neglects a fundamental law of physics in glibly treating the remarkable “free fall” collapse of each Tower, namely, the Law of Conservation of Momentum. This law of physics means that the hundreds of thousands of tons of material in the way must slow the upper part of the building because of its mass. . . . [T]his negligence by NIST (leaving the near-free-fall speeds unexplained) is a major flaw in their analysis. NIST ignores the possibility of controlled demolitions, which achieve complete building collapses in near free-fall times by moving the material out of the way using explosives. So, there is an alternative explanation that fits the data without violating basic laws of physics. . . . [W]e are keen to look at NIST’s calculations of how they explain near-free-fall collapse rates without explosives. We await an explanation from NIST which satisfies Conservation of Momentum.86



In addition to the conflict between the conservation-of-momentum principle and the virtually free-fall speed of the collapses, there is another major fact that is inconsistent with NIST’s claim that the lower sections of the towers collapsed because of the downward force exerted by the top sections. The top section of the South Tower (WTC 2), as the “Request for Correction” points out,


did not fall as a block upon the lower undamaged portion, but instead disintegrated as it fell. Thus, there would be no single large impact from a falling block . . . [but only] a series of small impacts as the fragments of the disintegrating upper portion arrived.87



In other words, the empirical evidence provided by videos of the South Tower’s destruction completely undermines NIST’s claim about the “tremendous energy” that would have been released by the “downward movement” of the “massive top section.” The top section was not massive, because it disintegrated as it fell.

This issue has been explored in a paper by Graeme MacQueen and Tony Szamboti dealing with the North Tower. Observing that NIST’s theory of its collapse requires that the top 12 stories constituted a rigid block that fell down on the building’s lower structure, they pointed out that—as Zdenek Bazant, a defender of NIST’s theory, has said—this fall would have needed to produce “one powerful jolt” to the lower structure in order to initiate its collapse: “Without it the required work could not have been done.” Then, noting that “if there was a powerful jolt to the lower structure there must also have been a powerful jolt to the upper, falling structure,” they added that, by the law of the conservation of momentum, “a jolt entails deceleration.” They then studied videos of the collapse to see if the requisite deceleration could be observed. Focusing on a feature of the upper block that could be easily tracked—its roof—they found that the requisite deceleration did not occur. To quote their conclusion:


We have tracked the fall of the roof of the North Tower through 114.4 feet, and we have found that it did not suffer severe and sudden impact or abrupt deceleration. There was no jolt. Thus there could not have been any . . . mechanism to explain the collapse of the lower portion of the building, which was undamaged by fire. The collapse hypothesis of Bazant and the authors of the NIST report has not withstood scrutiny.88



For all of these reasons, the fifth factor in NIST’s theory, like the other four factors, is inconsistent with the relevant evidence.

NIST’s IGNORING OF RELEVANT EVIDENCE


Besides the fact that its crucial claims are unsupported by evidence, NIST’s theory is inadequate for a second major reason. Whereas NIST claimed that it “found no corroborating evidence for alternative hypotheses suggesting that the WTC towers were brought down by controlled demolition using explosives,”89 the truth is that it simply ignored all such evidence. I will give four examples.90

(1) Explosions in the Towers: According to NIST, “there was no evidence (collected by . . . the Fire Department of New York) of any blast or explosions in the region below the impact and fire floors.”91 Although in this statement NIST limited its claim to the denial of any explosions “in the region below the impact and fire floors,” it wrote as if there were no explosions reported anywhere in the towers before or during their collapses. Insofar as NIST implicitly made this statement, it was a falsehood of enormous proportions.

Readers of NPH might well have missed the fact that explosions were reported. I had only one sentence about it in the text, and witnesses were quoted only in the accompanying note in the back of the book. In that note, moreover, I quoted only one firefighter and three WTC employees.

Since then, however, there has been an explosion of evidence for explosions. The most important event was the public release of 503 oral histories that were recorded shortly after 9/11 by the Fire Department of New York (which includes emergency medical workers as well as firefighters). The City of New York, which (under Mayor Michael Bloomberg) had long refused to release these testimonies, was finally forced by a court order to do so in August 2005. The New York Times, one of the plaintiffs, then made these oral histories publicly available.92 Shortly thereafter, I published an essay entitled “Explosive Testimony,” which quoted statements from 31 of these oral histories, along with many testimonies from journalists, police officers, and WTC employees.93

A few months later, Graeme MacQueen published an essay entitled “118 Witnesses,” in which he reported that 118 of the 503 oral histories referred to the occurrence of phenomena in the towers clearly suggestive of explosions.94 Here are three examples:


[Y]ou just heard explosions coming from building two, the South Tower. It seemed like it took forever, but there were about ten explosions. . . . We then realized the building started to come down.95

[T]here was what appeared to be at first an explosion. It appeared at the very top, simultaneously from all four sides, materials shot out horizontally. And then there seemed to be a momentary delay before you could see the beginning of the collapse.96

[W]e were standing there watching the North Tower and not even paying attention to the South Tower. Then you look up and it’s like holy shit, the building didn’t come down, it shot straight out over our heads, like straight across West Street.97



The fact that NIST did not discuss these testimonies cannot be explained by ignorance. Although MacQueen’s essay as well as mine appeared after NIST’s Final Report was published, NIST had been given access to the oral histories prior to their public release.98 NIST might claim, to be sure, that these testimonies did not provide evidence that explosives had been placed in the towers. By denying that the FDNY had collected any evidence of “explosions in the region below the impact and fire floors,” NIST seemed to be claiming that any explosions that did occur could be explained away as resulting from the impact of the planes and the resulting fires.

That claim, however, would be implausible with regard to many of the testimonies, such as this one: “[T]here was just an explosion. It seemed like on television [when] they blow up these buildings. It seemed like it was going all the way around like a belt, all these explosions.”99

Random explosions could not explain this pattern, which in the demolition industry is known as a “demolition ring.”

Moreover, even if we accepted NIST’s criterion, according to which only explosions “occurring in the region below the impact and fire floors” would count as evidence of pre-set explosives, NIST’s denial that any such explosions were reported is false, as the following examples show:


[T]he South Tower. . . actually gave at a lower floor, not the floor where the plane hit. . . [W]e originally had thought there was like an internal detonation, explosives, because it went in succession, boom, boom, boom, boom, and then the tower came down.100

I saw low-level flashes. . . . I didn’t know what it was. I mean, it could have been as a result of the building collapsing, things exploding, but I saw a flash flash flash and then it looked like the building came down. . . . [It was at] the lower level of the building. You know like when they demolish a building, how when they blow up a building, when it falls down? That’s what I thought I saw.101
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